IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TONY A. WHITE, III,)	Electronically Filed
#1214172,)	Sep 19 2019 11:13 a.m.
)	Elizabeth A. Brown
Appellant,)	Clerk of Supreme Court
)	CASE NO.: 78483
)	D.C. Case: C-16-313216-2
v.)	Dept.: XII
)	
STATE OF NEVADA,)	E-FILE
)	
Respondent.)	
_____)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

**Appeal from a Denial of Post Conviction Relief
Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County**

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 000854
Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson
624 South 9th Street
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 386-0001
Terry.jackson.esq@gmail.com

STEVEN B. WOLFSON
Nevada Bar No. 001565
Clark County District Attorney
200 E. Lewis Avenue

NATURE OF THE ACTION

This is an Appeal from the Denial of Post Conviction Relief in District Court.

...

SPECIFICATION OF ERROR

1. The District Court erred in denying Defendant his constitutional right to represent himself by refusing to even canvass him on his written request.
2. The District Court erred in denying the Defendant's Motion to Withdraw his Plea of Guilty because counsel failed to adequately investigate and prepare preplea and the resulting plea was unknowing and involuntary.
3. The District Court erred in denying Defendant's Motion to Withdraw his Plea based upon the Defendant's mental status.
4. The District Court erred because it did not find that the Defendant's guilty plea was invalid because it was not supported by sufficient facts which would have proved beyond a reasonable doubt all necessary elements of the offense.
5. The District Court erred by not finding Defendant received an excessively harsh and disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.
6. The District Court erred by not finding the accumulation of error denied Defendant his constitutional rights under the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments and that requires reversal of his conviction and sentence.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Toney White expressed dissatisfaction with his Court appointed counsel. He filed a motion requesting withdrawal of his guilty plea and at that time he also requested that alternative counsel be appointed for him or alternatively to represent himself *pro per*. (A.A. 52-62) Although the request for alternative counsel was granted, because the Court never even addressed Defendant's written request to represent himself, the Court erred.

The Court while granting Defendant another counsel, never even canvassed Defendant on his request to represent himself under *Faretta v. California*, 423 U.S. 806 (1975). At the February 6, 2018 hearing the Court totally ignored the Defendant's prior request for self representation. (A.A. 657-663) This was error. *People v. Bigelow*, 691 P.2d 994 (1984).

A long line of cases support the absolute right of a defendant to represent himself absent very specific exceptions. None of those exceptions applied in this case. The denial of self representation rights is a structural error requiring reversal. *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140 (2006).

The Defendant's resulting guilty plea by an ineffective counsel, was not a

knowing, voluntary and intelligent plea. His counsel did not properly prepare Defendant for the plea, nor did counsel adequately prepare, or investigate, the facts before the plea. Defendant submits there was also a substantial likelihood that Defendant's waiver of constitutional rights was not valid because his mental status was likely affected by recent changes in his medication dosages which had been altered just before his trial started. (A.A. 5, 14, 15)

Finally, the Defendant submits the plea was invalid because the State could not have proved the elements of the offenses of kidnapping beyond a reasonable doubt under *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 99 S.Ct. 2781 (1979) and *Langford v. State*, 95 Nev.631, 600 P.2d 231(1979). Therefore there was insufficient evidence of guilt to support the plea of guilt to the kidnapping charge in Counts 3 and 4.

The sentence of twenty years to life was excessively harsh and disproportionate in violation of the Eighth Amendment's cruel and unusual punishment clause. The case of *Solem v. Helm*, 463 U.S. 277 (1983) requires a court at sentencing to carefully balance the gravity of the offense with the harshness of the penalty. The District Court in this case did not however do the weighty balancing the Supreme Court requires in *Solem v. Helm*.

The Supreme Court in *Solem v. Helm* recognized that it is incumbent on a judge to carefully weigh sentences imposed upon other similarly situated defendants so the judge can then determine if a sentence may be too harsh or is disproportionate. A weighing of all the factors as required by an Eighth Amendment proportionality analysis strongly suggests that Defendant's lengthy sentence in this case was unduly harsh and should therefore be reduced.

While each of these errors alone should result in the reversal of the conviction or sentence, it is respectfully submitted that the totality or cumulation of errors in this case requires reversal. This is especially true in the instant offenses because of the seriousness of the offense. *Mulder v. State*, 116 Nev. 1, 992 P.2d 845 (2000)

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Defendant/Appellant claims jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(3). This is an appeal from the denial of a timely filed Writ of Habeas Corpus for Post-Conviction Relief. The Defendant filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 28, 2019, within the thirty (30) day time limit established by Nevada Rules of Appellant Procedure 4(b). (A.A. 116)

Defendant requested stay of appellate proceedings (A.A. 548-617) but that request

was denied August 22, 2019. (A.A. 618) Defendant filed a Motion for Certification and Request for Remand on August 30, 2019, (A.A. 619-623) and awaits the District Court decision on that Motion. Defendant, pursuant to NRAP 12, has requested to stay appellate proceedings so that the results of the second Motion to Withdraw Plea could be incorporated into this Appeal. Such a stay is necessary so counsel can fully raise the “mental status” issue concerning the validity of his plea. (See Issue III)

ROUTING STATEMENT

This is a direct appeal of the denial of a post-conviction Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus that is a class A felony. Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1) it should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court.

LEGAL ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO SELF REPRESENTATION UNDER *FARETTA* BY FAILING TO EVEN CANVASS HIM ON HIS WRITTEN REQUEST FOR SELF-REPRESENTATION.
- II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT’S REQUEST TO WITHDRAW HIS PLEA OF GUILTY

BECAUSE COUNSEL FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE PREPLEA RESULTING IN AN UNKNOWING PLEA.

III. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S PLEA BASED UPON HIS MENTAL STATUS.

IV. WHETHER DEFENDANT'S PLEA OF GUILTY WAS NOT SUPPORTED BY SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF GUILT UNDER *JACKSON v. VIRGINIA* OR *IN RE WINSHIP*.

V. WHETHER DEFENDANT RECEIVED AN EXCESSIVELY HARSH AGGREGATE SENTENCE OF LIFE WITH A MINIMUM PAROLE ELIGIBILITY OF TWENTY YEARS. THIS VIOLATED THE EIGHTH AMENDMENT'S CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT CLAUSE.

VI. WHETHER THE ACCUMULATION OF ERRORS REQUIRES REVERSAL OF THE DEFENDANT'S CONVICTION.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Defendant was indicted on March 9, 2016. (A.A. a-f) He was initially arraigned and entered a not guilty plea on March 17, 2016. On May 18, 2016, Defendant filed a Motion to Recuse Counsel and Appoint Alternative Counsel or alternatively to

represent himself. (A.A. 52-62) On December 28, 2016, Defendant again refiled a Motion to Remove Counsel and Proceed in *Pro Per*.

On October 19, 2017, Defendant entered a plea of guilty. (A.A. 63-75) On January 9, 2018, the Defendant filed a Motion to Withdraw Plea of Guilt and he also moved for appointment of new counsel or to represent himself *pro per*. (A.A. 52-62) The Court however never canvassed him concerning his *pro per* representation request when the Court granted Defendant's request for new counsel on February 6, 2018. (A.A. 657-663)

After many hearings, (A.A. 668-666), (A.A. 667-669), (A.A. 670-675), (A.A. 676-686), the Court had granted the Defendant withdrawal of his first guilty plea (A.A. 688) and reset the trial which then began February 19, 2019. (A.A. 133) On February 21, 2019, two days after it started, the Defendant pled guilty again. (A.A. 486-509) At that time the Defendant pled guilty to all charges without any negotiations or reductions in the charges. (A.A. 490) Defendant was sentenced on March 19, 2019, to an aggregate sentence of life with a minimum parole eligibility of twenty years. (A.A. 131-132)

The Judgment of Conviction was filed March 27, 2019. (A.A. 113-115) On

March 28, 2019, Defendant filed Notice of Appeal *pro per*. (A.A. 116) On July 26, 2019, new counsel, having been appointed on May 9, 2019. (A.A. 120) Defendant through counsel filed a second Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea Requesting Hearing with Exhibits A, B and C. On July 26, 2019, (A.A. 513-547) Defendant through counsel, filed a Motion to Stay Appellate Proceedings with Exhibits. (A.A. 548-617) That Order was denied on August 22, 2019. (A.A. 618) The Defendant filed a Motion for Certification and Request for Remand on August 30, 2019. (A.A. 619-623) This request was calendared for September 24, 2019, and is pending at the time this Opening Brief was filed on September 17, 2019. Appellant urges the Court to be able to file a supplement to this brief, incorporating the decision of the District Court on Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea being heard September 24, 2019.

FACTUAL STATEMENT

The Defendant entered an invalid plea of guilty after he had initially pled guilty and had his plea withdrawn. This second plea of guilty was invalid because of his counsel's errors in failing to adequately investigate and prepare and because of the Defendant's mental status at the time he pled guilty.

The Court erred in denying the Defendant his constitutional right to self

representation by failing to even canvass him on this right, even after Defendant had requested to represent himself by written Motion. (A.A. 657-663)

The plea of guilty was also inherently flawed because there was an insufficient showing on the record of adequate facts to establish the elements of first degree kidnapping.

Defendant received ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing and received twenty years to life which was excessively harsh and disproportionate under the Eighth Amendment. (A.A. 131, 32)

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED DEFENDANT HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO REPRESENT HIMSELF UNDER THE *FARETTA* DECISION WITHOUT CONDUCTING A FULL CANVASS OF THE DEFENDANT.

The Defendant had respectfully requested that he be allowed to represent himself. (A.A. 52-62) This request was made in a written Motion by the Defendant, which asserted his fundamental Sixth Amendment right to self representation. That request was however denied by the Court when it simply ignored the Defendant's

request for *pro per* representation at the evidentiary hearing on February 6, 2018.
(A.A. 657-663)

This refusal by the District Court to even canvass the Defendant on his request for self representation was reversible error. The case law is almost unanimous that a defendant has an absolute right to represent himself in a criminal proceeding absent some unusual exceptions. *Jackson v. Ylst*, 921 F.2d 882 (9th Cir.1990); *People v. Phillips*, 169 C.A. 3rd 632 (1985). *See, People v. Morgan*, 161 Cal.Rptr. 101 C.A. 3rd, 523 (1980), holding denial proper when motion untimely. *See also, People v. Hill*, 150 Cal.Rptr. 628 87 C.A. 3rd 125 (1978). The right to self representation may also be denied if the defendant does not have the mental capacity to make a knowing and voluntary waiver or if the defendant is disruptive in court, *People v. Manson*, 139 Cal. Rptr. 275, 71 C.A. 3rd 1 (1977). Clearly, none of these exceptions to *Faretta* applied in this case and the denial of self representation was therefore reversible error.

Merely appointing another counsel, as the Court did, without first canvassing the Defendant on his *Faretta* rights was error. *Faretta* notes: . . . “forcing a lawyer on an unwilling defendant is contrary to his basic right to defend himself if he truly wants to do so.” *Id.* 317 (Emphasis added) *Faretta* also recognized the right to

counsel is ‘personal’ stating . . . “The Sixth Amendment does not provide merely that a defense shall be made for the accused, it grants the accused personally not counsel. *Id.* 319 (Emphasis added)

It is important to note that a defendant need not show actual prejudice to establish a *Faretta* violation, such an error is structural error, not subject to harmless error review. *See, McKaskle*, 465 U.S. at 177 n.8 (harmless error analysis is inapplicable to deprivation of the self representation right, because “[the right is either respected or denied; it cannot be harmless],” *United States v. Gonzalez-Lopez*, 548 U.S. 140, 150 (2006) (choice of counsel is structural); *see also McCoy v. Louisiana*, 584 U.S. ____ (2018).

The facts are undisputed and the Court must therefore reverse the conviction of the Defendant. *United States v. Smith*, 780 F.2d 810 (9th Cir.1986)

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY NOT FINDING COUNSEL HAD FAILED TO ADEQUATELY INVESTIGATE AND PREPARE PRE- PLEA.

The American Bar Association (ABA) Standards on the Prosecution and Defense function emphasizes the crucial importance of investigation by criminal

defense attorneys for their clients. *See*, ABA Standards 4.1 states *inter alia*:

4.1 Duty to Investigate.

It is the duty of the lawyer to conduct a prompt investigation of the circumstances of the case and explore all avenues leading to facts relevant to guilt and degree of guilt or penalty. The investigation should always include effort to secure information in the possession of the prosecution and law enforcement authorities. The duty to investigate exists regardless of the accused's admissions or statements to the lawyer of facts constituting guilt or his stated desire to plead guilty. (Emphasis added)

...

The two-part test applicable for a claim of ineffectiveness of counsel is that set forth in *Strickland v Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984):

First, the defendant must show counsel's *performance was deficient*. . . . Second, counsel must show that the deficient performance *prejudiced* the defense. . . .

Concerning the first requirement, the Supreme Court has explained that the accused "must show that counsel's representation fell below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Id.* at 688. The Court has also explained that, in meeting the second requirement, the accused can

establish prejudice by showing that the attorney's deficient performance "actually had an adverse effect on the defense," that is, that the attorney's performance was sufficiently poor that it "undermines confidence in the outcome." *Id.* at 693-94.

In this case, counsel failed by not being aware of his client's extensive medical history of mental health problems. It appears counsel was not aware that Defendant had been recently removed from his anti-psychotic medicines. Counsel apparently did no exploration of a mental health defense. He was not ready at the plea hearing.

The United States Supreme Court in *Strickland* noted that:

. . . [j]udicial scrutiny of counsel performance must be highly deferential, however, counsel must at a minimum conduct a reasonable investigation enabling him to make informed decisions about how best to represent his client. *Strickland, Id.* 691, 104 S.Ct. at 2066. (Emphasis added)

. . .

Reversing a conviction for ineffective assistance of counsel, the Nevada Supreme Court in *Sanborn v. State*, 107 Nev. 399, 812 P.2d 1279 (1991) stated:

To state a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel that is sufficient to invalidate a judgment of conviction, Sanborn must demonstrate that trial counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness and that

counsel's deficiencies were so severe that they rendered the jury's verdict unreliable. *See Strickland v Washington*, 46 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984); *Warden v. Lyons*, 100 Nev. 430, 683 F.2d 504 (1984) *cert. denied*, 471 U.S. 1004, 105 S.Ct. 1865, 85 L.Ed.2d 159 (1985). Focusing on counsel's performance as a whole, and with due regard for the strong presumption of effective assistance accorded counsel by this court and *Strickland*, we hold that Sanborn's representation indeed fell below an objective standard of reasonableness. Trial counsel did not adequately perform pretrial investigation, failed to pursue evidence supportive of a claim of self-defense, and failed to explore allegations of the victim's propensity towards violence. Thus, he "was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687, 104 S.Ct. at 2064.

...

Although it cannot be certain what further investigation would have yielded, performing no investigation in such a serious case cannot be justified. Here, as in *Sanborn*, Defendant submits the evidentiary hearing showed counsel could have developed strong evidence to show the Defendant was not guilty of all the offenses charged because he may not have had sufficient criminal intent to commit the crimes charged.

In *United States v. Gray*, 878 U.S. 702 (3rd Cir.1989), the Court found counsel ineffective for failure to adequately investigate, stating:

“Ineffective assistance is generally clear in the context of complete failure to investigate because counsel can hardly be said to have made a strategic choice against pursuing a certain line of investigation when he had not yet obtained the facts on which such a decision could be made.” See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690-91, 104 S.Ct. at 2065-67; see also *Debango*, 780 F.2d at 85 (“the failure to investigate potentially corroborating witnesses . . . can hardly be considered a tactical decision”); *Sullivan*, 819 F.2d at 1389; *Nealy*, 764 F.2d at 1178; *Crisp*, 743 F.2d at 584.

“Such is the situation presented in this case. Counsel offered no strategic justification for his failure to make any effort to investigate the case, and indeed he could have offered no such rationale. As he admitted, he did not go to the scene of the incident to interview potential witnesses, even though, as the police officers testified, there were as many as 25 witnesses including many persons who would have been easily located, such as the bartender and people who came out of their houses to observe the disturbance.” *Id.* 711 See also, *United States v. Burrows*, 872 F.2d 915, 918 (9th Cir.1989) and *Deutscher v. Whitney*, 884 F.2d 1152, 1160 (9th Cir.1989), (quoting *Spano v. New York*, 360 U.S.

315, 326 (1959)) (Douglas, J., concurring). (Emphasis added)

Because of counsel's inadequacy under *Strickland*, in both investigating and in counseling the Defendant before the guilty plea, the guilty plea should have been found invalid.

III. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT HIS MOTION TO WITHDRAW HIS GUILTY PLEA BASED UPON INVOLUNTARINESS BASED UPON HIS MENTAL STATUS.

Substantial evidence in the record reflects Defendant had a long history of mental instability. (A.A. 507, 508). See also Exhibits to Defendant's Second Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea, which established that his regular prescription medication was suspended just before trial and that during his plea, he was not taking his usual medications. (A.A. 521-22), (A.A. 523-24)

It is respectfully submitted the change in his medications, which occurred so soon before his plea of guilty, rendered him incompetent to fully understand his plea. Any plea of guilty must be a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of constitutional rights. *Boykin v. Alabama*, 395 U.S. 238 (1969); *McMann v. Richardson*, 397 U.S. 759 (1970). It seems likely that neither Defendant's counsel,

the prosecutor, nor the Court were aware of Toney White's significant medical problems when he hastily entered his guilty plea mid-trial. (A.A. 507-08) It is respectfully submitted that allowing the plea to go forward while knowing his medical condition would likely have been malpractice by Defendant's counsel.

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