IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

TONEY A. WHITE, III,,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Oct 21 2019 10:25 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 78483

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

TERRENCE M. JACKSON, ESQ. Nevada Bar #000854 Law Office of Terrence M. Jackson 624 South 9th Street Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 386-0001 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Judgment of Conviction because Appellant freely and voluntarily entered his guilty plea. First, Appellant requested new counsel, or *alternatively*, to continue pro per, and the judge honored his request by appointing new counsel. Because Appellant only asked alternatively to represent himself pro per if the judge did not appoint new counsel, the court did not need to conduct a Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 95 S. Ct. 2525 (1975), canvass.

_

² Respondent has filed a Motion to Transmit PSI contemporaneously with this pleading.

Additionally, Appellant's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel should be reserved for post-conviction petitions. However, even on the merits, Appellant does not point to any specific factual allegations demonstrating that counsel was ineffective. Appellant simply claims that counsel should have conducted a more thorough investigation before trial, but cannot identify what counsel would have discovered through an investigation. Appellant also does not point to any specific instance from the record where counsel was ineffective.

Appellant's allegations that his plea was not voluntary is belied by the record because Appellant freely and voluntarily entered his plea when he affirmed to the judge at multiple points during the plea canvass that he was not coerced by anybody. Additionally, Appellant's claims that there was no evidence to support the charges is without merit because he affirmed the court's factual determination, and even explained how he aided his co-conspirator in the kidnapping by handcuffing the victim.

Moreover, Appellant's claim that his sentence amounts to cruel and unusual punishment is belied by the record. During his plea canvas, Appellant told the court he understood the range of sentences he could face for these charges, including the life sentence, and wanted to plea anyway. Appellant's sentence is within the statutory range and is reasonable relative to his crimes and criminal history.

Therefore, Appellant's claims are all belied by the record, and the Judgment should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT NEVER UNEQUIVOCALLY REQUESTED TO PROCEED PRO PER

Generally, a criminal defendant has the right to representation by counsel under the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution. See U.S. Const. amend. VI; Nev. Const. art. 1, § 8, cl. 1. However, a defendant can waive this right and, where he chooses to represent himself, he must satisfy the court that his waiver of the right to counsel is knowing and voluntary. Faretta, 422 U.S. at 818-19, 835, 95 S. Ct. at 2525; Vanisi v. State, 117 Nev. 330, 337-38, 22 P.3d 1164, 1169-70 (2001).

Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have recognized that "the right to defend is given directly to the accused; for it is he who suffers the consequences if the defense fails." Johnson v. State, 117 Nev. 153, 162, 17 P.3d 1008 (2001) (quoting Faretta, 422 U.S. at 819-20, 95 S. Ct. at 2533). The Court further emphasized that "[i]t is the defendant . . . who must be free personally to decide whether in his particular case counsel is to his advantage. And although he may conduct his own defense ultimately to his own detriment, his choice must be honored out of that respect for the individual which is the lifeblood of the law." Id. Indeed, once a defendant is found competent to stand trial, so long as he freely,

intelligently, and knowingly waives his right to counsel a district court has little power to prevent the defendant from representing himself: "[I]n the absence of some indication that Johnson's attempt to waive counsel was not knowing, intelligent and voluntary, or that some other factor warranted denial of the right to self-representation under this court's holding in <u>Tanksley</u>, the district court could not properly preclude Johnson from waiving his right to counsel." <u>Id.</u> at 164, 17 P.3d 1008.

While this Court "indulge[s] in every reasonable presumption against waiver of the right to counsel," it gives deference to the lower court's decision to grant a defendant's waiver of his right to counsel. <u>Hooks v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 48, 55, 57, 176 P.3d 1081, 1085-86 (2008). "Through face-to-face interaction in the courtroom, the trial judges are much more competent to judge a defendant's understanding" of his rights than the appellate court since a "cold record is a poor substitute for demeanor observation." <u>Graves v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 118, 124, 912 P.2d 234, 238 (1996). Indeed, "[e]ven the omission of a canvass is not reversible error if it appears from the whole record that the defendant knew his rights and insisted upon representing himself." <u>Hooks</u>, 124 Nev. at 55, 176 P.3d at 1085 (quotation marks and citation omitted).

In assessing a waiver, the inquiry is whether the defendant can knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to counsel, not whether the defendant can competently represent himself. Tanksley v. State, 113 Nev. 997, 1000-01, 946 P.2d 148, 150

(1997). A defendant's technical knowledge is not relevant to the inquiry and a request for self-representation may not be denied solely because the defendant lacks legal skills. <u>Id.</u> However, a request *may* be denied if the request is equivocal, the defendant abuses his right by disrupting the judicial process, or the defendant is incompetent to waive his right to counsel. Id. (emphasis added).

Here, Appellant did not knowingly and voluntarily waive his right to counsel. Instead, Appellant only expressed a desire to represent himself *alternatively*, if the court was not inclined to appoint him new counsel. I AA 052-062. Appellant titled his January 30, 2018 motion, "Defendant White's Motion for Withdrawal of Guilty Plea and for Appointment of New Counsel or Alternatively to Proceed in Pro Per." I AA 052. Appellant's motion was one long complaint about his previous counsel listing all the ways counsel was neglecting his case. I AA 052-062. Appellant argues that after ten months of counsel representing him, he has failed to defend him properly. I AA 061. Appellant concluded by stating, "Defendant moves to withdraw his October 19, 2017, guilty plea and for recusal of counsel, appointment of new counsel, or alternatively to proceed pro se." I AA 061. Appellant only asked to proceed pro per if the court was not inclined to appoint him new counsel. I AA 061.

Moreover, when the court granted the motion and appointed Appellant new counsel, he accepted the new counsel instead of ever mentioning that he wanted to proceed Pro Per:

THE COURT: ...And so at this time I'm going to appoint – based on the allegations that you've made, I'm going to appoint another attorney to represent you to see if there's a legal basis to withdraw your plea. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

THE COURT: Okay. And if your attorney — your independent attorney thinks there's a legal basis he or she will file that motion. If they don't believe there's a legal basis we'll proceed with sentencing. Mr. Gruber will be back on the case and you can file any appeal or anything else that you deem appropriate; okay?

. . .

THE COURT: Anything else? I mean, we've addressed all your issues?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

. . .

THE COURT: So, Mr. White, Mr. Sanft is going to be appointed and I'll continue it till February 15th.

MR. SANFT: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: We'll just leave the date.

MR. SANFT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: If you need more time though I would be inclined to grant that.

MR. SANFT: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank you very much for taking this.

MR. SANFT: Thank you.

III AA 658-663.

Instead of asking to proceed pro per, Appellant was thankful for the court appointing new counsel. Therefore, this claim is without merit and should be denied.

///

///

II. APPELLANT'S CLAIMS OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL ARE INAPPROPRIATE ON DIRECT APPEAL

Appellant complains that his counsel was constitutionally ineffective in both "investigating and counseling the Defendant before the guilty plea." AOB at 17.

"[T]his Court has consistently concluded that it will not entertain claims of ineffective assistance of counsel on direct appeal." Corbin v. State, 111 Nev. 378, 381, 892 P.2d 580, 582 (1995); Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 882-83, 34 P.3d 519, 534 (2001). Claims of ineffective assistance must first be raised in petitions for post-conviction relief. Id.; Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994). This Court should decline to consider Appellant's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel as it is an inappropriate issue for direct appeal.

Furthermore, even if this Court were to find that this claim is appropriate for appeal, it must fail because of Appellant's failure to offer citations to the record to support specific factual contentions. NRAP 28(a)(19)(A); Thomas v. State, 120 Nev. 37, 43, 83 P.3d 818, 822 (2004); Pitman v. Lower Court Counseling, 110 Nev. 359, 365, 871 P.2d 953, 957 (1994), overruled on other grounds, Nunez v. City of North Las Vegas, 116 Nev. 535, 1 P.3d 959 (2000); Allianz Ins. Co. v. Gagon, 109 Nev. 990, 997, 860 P.2d 720, 725 (1993); Smith v. Emery, 109 Nev. 737, 856 P.2d 1386 (1993). Instead, he relies only on the naked assertion that "it cannot be certain what further investigation would have yielded." AOB at 15. Accordingly, Appellant has

not adequately briefed this issue. Thus, this Court should decline to consider Appellant's claim that his trial counsel was ineffective.

However, if the Court decides to entertain the claim, it is still belied by the record because Appellant knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered his plea. Pursuant to NRS 176.165, a defendant who has pleaded guilty, but has not been sentenced, may petition the district court to withdraw his plea. "A district court may, in its discretion, grant a defendant's [presentence] motion to withdraw a guilty plea for any substantial reason if it is fair and just. However, the district court must also look to the totality of the circumstances and the entire record." Woods v. State, 114 Nev. 468, 469, 958 P.2d 91, 91 (1998); See State v. Second Judicial Dist. Court (Bernardelli), 85 Nev. 381, 385, 455 P.2d 923, 926 (1969).

In <u>Crawford v. State</u>, 117 Nev. 718, 721-22, 30 P.3d 1123, 1125-26 (2001), this Court held that the only relevant question when determining whether a defendant presented a fair and just reason sufficient to permit a withdrawal of his plea is whether the plea was knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently entered. However, this Court recently rejected <u>Crawford</u>'s exclusive focus on the validity of the plea and affirmed that the district court must consider the totality of the circumstances to determine whether permitting withdrawal of a guilty plea before sentencing would be fair and just. <u>Stevenson v. State</u>, 116 Nev. ___, __, 354 P.3d 1277, 1279 (2015). In Stevenson, this Court still affirmed the Judgment of Conviction even though the

district court applied the <u>Crawford</u> standard, finding that the defendant failed to present a fair and just reason favoring the withdrawal of his guilty plea. <u>Id.</u>

On appeal from the district court's determination, a reviewing court will presume that the lower court correctly assessed the validity of the plea, and will not reverse the district court's determination absent a clear showing of an abuse of discretion. Mitchell v. State, 109 Nev. 137, 138, 848 P.2d 1060, 1060 (1993). "An abuse of discretion occurs if the district court's decision is arbitrary or capricious or if it exceeds the bounds of law or reason." Jackson v. State, 117 Nev. 116, 120, 17 P.3d 998, 1000 (2001). Deference must be given to factual findings made by the district court in the course of a motion to withdraw a guilty plea. Little v. Warden, 117 Nev. 845, 854, 34 Pd. 3d 540, 546 (2001).

A plea of guilty is presumptively valid, particularly where it is entered into on the advice of counsel. <u>Jezierski v. State</u>, 107 Nev. 395, 397, 812 P.2d 355, 356 (1991). The defendant has the burden of proving that the plea was not entered knowingly or voluntarily. <u>Bryant v. State</u>, 102 Nev. 268, 272, 721 P.2d 364, 368 (1986) overruled on other grounds, <u>State v. Freese</u>, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 1442, 448 (2000); <u>Wynn v. State</u>, 96 Nev. 673, 615 P.2d 946 (1980); <u>Housewright v. Powell</u>, 101 Nev. 147, 710 P.2d 73 (1985). In determining whether a guilty plea is knowingly and voluntarily entered, the court will review the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant's plea. Bryant, 102 Nev. at 271, 721 P.2d

at 367. The proper standard set forth in <u>Bryant</u> requires the trial court to personally address a defendant at the time he enters his plea in order to determine whether he understands the nature of the charges to which he is pleading. <u>Id.</u> at 271; <u>State v. Freese</u>, 116 Nev. 1097, 1105, 13 P.3d 442, 448 (2000). The guidelines for voluntariness of guilty pleas "do not require the articulation of talismanic phrases." <u>Heffley v. Warden</u>, 89 Nev. 573, 575, 516 P.2d 1403, 1404 (1973). It requires only "that the record affirmatively disclose that a defendant who pleaded guilty entered his plea understandingly and voluntarily." <u>Brady v. United States</u>, 397 U.S. 742, 747-748, 90 S.Ct. 1463, 1470 (1970); <u>United States v. Sherman</u>, 474 F.2d 303 (9th Cir. 1973).

If Appellant did not object or raise a specific issue and/or argument below, the claim is waived and reviewable only for plain error. Dermody v. City of Reno, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997); Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 58 (1992), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993); Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991). Plain error review asks:

"To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record." <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ___, ___, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is

readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. ___, ___, 343 P.3d, 590, 594 (2015).

Appellant failed to present a sufficient reason to permit withdrawal of his guilty plea. Appellant alleged that he did not voluntarily enter his plea because of his medications. III AA 514-515. However, this claim is belied by the record, discussed <u>infra</u>, Section IV. Appellant also claimed that he should be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea because it is "illogical" that he would "suddenly plead guilty to all counts." III AA 516. What Appellant did not allege in his Motion to Withdraw Guilty Plea was that counsel was ineffective and did not properly counsel him before his plea. Therefore, because he did not raise this issue below, it is reviewable only for plain error.

Further, Appellant cannot demonstrate ineffective assistance because even he admits that he does not know what better investigation would have developed. AOB at 15. This admission is fatal because Appellant must show what a better investigation would have revealed to establish ineffective assistance of counsel.

Molina v. State, 120 Nev. 185, 192, 87 P.3d 533, 538 (2004). As such, this claim must be denied.

III. APPELLANT'S GUILTY PLEA WAS ENTERED INTO FREELY AND VOLUNTARILY

Appellant alleges that his plea was involuntary because of his "long history with mental instability." AOB at 17. However, this claim is without merit because based on the totality of the circumstances, it is clear that Appellant freely and voluntarily decided to plead guilty, with full knowledge of the rights waived.

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